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Approved Judgment

Ms Leigh-Ann Mulcahy QC : 

Introduction

1. The issue in this claim brought by BM, the Claimant, is whether the London Borough of Hackney, the Defendant, misdirected itself or acted Wednesbury unreasonably when deciding to refuse to reassess the Claimant’s age following the Claimant’s request (through her solicitors) on 2 December 2015 that it do so. The request was accompanied by a body of expert and other material in support. The decision which is challenged is contained in the Defendant’s letter to the Claimant’s solicitors dated 14 January 2016 declining to reassess the Claimant’s age (“the Decision”).

2. The claim for judicial review was issued on 14 April 2016. An anonymity order was made by Ms Dinah Rose QC sitting as a Deputy High Court Judge on 20 June 2016. Permission to proceed with a claim for judicial review was given by Ms Sara Cockerill QC sitting as a Deputy High Court Judge on 18 July 2016. The substantive judicial review hearing came before me on 15 November 2016 and, following the hearing, I have (with permission) received a Joint Note dated 18 November 2016, a Further Note on behalf of the Defendant by Mr Harrop-Griffiths of Counsel dated 5 December 2016 and a responsive Note on behalf of the Claimant by Ms Moodie of Counsel dated 12 December 2016, all of which I have read and taken into account. 

3. This judgment is structured as follows:

i) The issues

ii) The factual background to the claim

iii) The significance of an age reassessment for the Claimant

iv) Relevant law and guidance

v) The materiality and relevance of the material supplied on 2 December 2015 

vi) The relevance and materiality of the procedural deficiencies in the 2013 age assessment

vii) The Defendant’s alleged policy of not conducting age assessments on adults

viii) Section 31(2A)(a) Senior Courts Act 1981

ix) Conclusion and relief

(1) The issues

4. It is important to begin by identifying what is not in issue in relation to this claim.

5. As stated at paragraph 14 of the Claimant’s skeleton argument dated 7 November 2016, and confirmed by Ms Moodie in oral submissions on 15 November 2016, the Claimant’s challenge is not to the age assessment that was carried out by the Defendant on 17 January 2013 (“the 2013 age assessment”). This is important because parts of the Amended Statement of Facts and Grounds and the evidence in support set out various criticisms of the 2013 age assessment which appeared to suggest that a challenge was being made to that assessment. 

6. The judicial review claim was issued on 14 April 2016, over 3 years after the 2013 age assessment was carried out and nearly 3 years after expiry of the limitation period for bringing a judicial review claim pursuant to CPR 54.5. The Claimant has been in receipt of legal advice from at least 25 April 2013 according to an email from the social worker who carried out the age assessment to the Defendant’s Duty Lawyer on that date which stated that he had received an email from solicitors acting for the Claimant on that date. No legal challenge was made to the 2013 age assessment, even out of time. Irrespective of whether or not it would have succeeded on its merits, such a claim is now far too late.

7. However, as already stated, the Claimant’s case is that she is not seeking to challenge the 2013 age assessment in these proceedings and accordingly, that the points made by the Defendant about delay are not relevant. Ms Moodie further confirmed at the hearing on 15 November 2016 that the Claimant is not pursuing grounds set out in the Amended Statement of Facts and Grounds relating to the following:

i) A medical assessment carried out by Dr Brown on 3 January 2013 (paragraphs 95-98 Amended Statement of Facts and Grounds);

ii) Evidence from Hackney and Regent’s Colleges (paragraphs 99-102 Amended Statement of Facts and Grounds);

iii) Lagos schools and phone calls (paragraphs 103 to 105 Amended Statement of Facts and Grounds);

iv) The Defendant’s failure to refer the Claimant into the National Referral Mechanism (“NRM”) (paragraphs 114-115, 117, 119, 120-121 Amended Statement of Facts and Grounds).

8. The Claimant’s case regarding the relevance of the 2013 age assessment in relation to the present claim is that “the flaws identified with the 2013 age assessment, some of which are expressly accepted by the Defendant, are relevant when assessing the reasonableness of the Defendant’s refusal to revisit/disturb its decision on age” (Claimant’s skeleton, paragraph 14). 

9. The flaws which the Claimant relies on in relation to the 2013 age assessment are procedural ones identified by reference to the ‘Merton guidelines’ derived from Stanley Burnton J’s judgment in The Queen on the application of B v The Mayor and Burgesses of the London Borough of Merton [2003] EWHC 1689 (Admin); [2003] 4 All ER 280 at [37-38] (the “Merton” case) and developed in subsequent case law, culminating in guidelines laid down by the Court of Appeal in R (FZ) v Croydon [2011] EWHC Civ 59; [2011] PTSR 748 at [21-25]:

i) First, the absence of an appropriate adult, to which the Claimant was entitled, at the interview on 20 November 2012 for the purpose of assessing her age;

ii) Secondly, the failure of the Defendant to give the Claimant an opportunity to respond to adverse findings at a provisional stage in order to correct any misunderstandings or provide further details where required. 

10. The Defendant accepts that the 2013 age assessment suffered from both these deficiencies and accordingly, accepts that a Merton-compliant age assessment was not carried out. In the Defendant’s skeleton argument dated 11 November 2016, it was originally contended that an independent appropriate adult was present at two meetings on 20 November 2012 and 18 February 2013. However, it was conceded on behalf of the Defendant in oral submissions on 15 November 2016 that DC Jade Allen, who was present at the meeting on 20 November 2012, did not constitute an appropriate adult within the meaning of the relevant guidance (referred to at Section (4) below), and that the presence of a member of the Refugee Council, who was an appropriate adult, at the meeting on 18 February 2013 did not assist it because the purpose of that meeting was to communicate the Defendant’s decision on the age assessment made on 17 January 2013 and was not a meeting that was part of the age assessment process. The second deficiency identified above was accepted at paragraph 55 of the Defendant’s skeleton argument. It was confirmed to me by Mr Harrop-Griffiths in oral submissions that the procedural deficiencies had not in fact been taken into account in relation to the Decision whether to reassess the Claimant’s age. It was, however, contended by Mr Harrop-Griffiths on behalf of the Defendant that the procedural deficiencies were not material to that Decision and/or, if considered, would have made no material difference to the outcome. Accordingly, the relevance of the procedural deficiencies and their materiality are in issue between the parties. 

11. In Ms Moodie’s Note dated 12 December 2016, she identified a third alleged flaw based on paragraph 52 of the Defendant’s skeleton argument read together with the 2013 age assessment, namely that the age assessment was conducted entirely or in part by one social worker, Mr John Clare, on 20 November 2012 and 18 February 2013, rather than two experienced and qualified social workers. She contended that when this further breach was raised at the hearing, it was not disputed by the Defendant. This alleged flaw was not raised in terms at the hearing and it would appear to be something of an after-thought. It is based on an interpretation of Mr Harrop-Griffiths’ skeleton argument in relation to a meeting on 20 November 2012 at which only Mr Clare was present. However, it would appear that another (consultant) social worker, Edrich Alexander, was involved in certain other meetings with the Claimant, albeit these were not for the purpose of carrying out an age assessment. Mr Harrop-Griffiths in his Note dated 5 December 2016 refers to Mr Clare as being the “principal assessor” rather than the sole assessor. As stated above, the meeting on 18 February 2013 was for the purpose only of communicating the decision on the age assessment and is not therefore relevant. Given that no issue over the number of social workers was raised by the Claimant in advance of the hearing on 15 November, and though raised at the hearing was not particularly in focus, and the absence of any clear acceptance in relation to this point by the Defendant, I do not consider that it would be appropriate to take this further alleged flaw into account in relation to my determination.

12. In summary, the issue for determination is whether the Defendant’s Decision not to reassess the age of the Claimant in light of the material submitted to it by the Claimant, against a backdrop of an age assessment which is accepted in two procedural respects to be non-Merton compliant (if these procedural deficiencies are relevant to the decision, which is in dispute), was:

i) the result of asking itself the wrong question and failing to take reasonable steps to acquaint itself with the relevant information to answer it correctly (Secretary of State for Education and Science v Metropolitan Borough Council of Tameside [1977] AC 1014 at 1065B per Lord Diplock); or 

ii) was “so unreasonable that no reasonable local authority could ever come to it” (Associated Provincial Picture Houses Ltd v Wednesbury Corporation [1948] 1 KB 223) i.e. was Wednesbury unreasonable. 

13. A further subsidiary issue was raised by the Defendant in relation to section 31(2A)(a) Senior Courts Act 1981 in its skeleton argument. The Defendant contends that if the Court finds that the Defendant should have taken more account of the ‘new evidence’ in making its Decision but that it is highly likely that, had it done so, it would have been entitled to refuse to reassess the Claimant’s age, the Court must refuse relief, there being no exceptional public interest reason why it should not.

14. Finally, I note that it was originally alleged by the Claimant that the Defendant has acted in breach of its continuing obligations under Article 4 of the European Convention on Human Rights (“ECHR”) towards a potential victim of human trafficking in the UK where significant doubt has been cast on the lawfulness of an age assessment by significant new evidence and historical evidence both of which are available to assist the decision maker in complying with its duties (paragraph 127, Amended Statement of Facts and Grounds). A claim for damages was made in this regard. By letter dated 3 November 2016, the Claimant’s solicitors stated that a declaration for breach of Article 4 and associated damages would not be pursued at the substantive hearing. This was confirmed orally by Ms Moodie. Accordingly, I do not need to address this issue.

(2) The factual background to the claim

15. The Claimant is a Nigerian national who claims to be 19 years old (with a claimed date of birth of 18 March 1997). She alleges that her parents were killed in 2010 and that she and her brother, PM, were looked after by their maternal aunt. She states that she entered the United Kingdom in 2011 when aged 14. On 8 October 2012 a referral was made by PM’s school to the Defendant’s Children Services department and the Claimant and PM were placed in foster care, each as a ‘looked after child’ pursuant to section 20 Children Act 1989.

16. The Claimant was removed from foster care on 19 February 2013 after being assessed on 17 January 2013 to be an adult aged 21 (with an assessed date of birth of 18 March 1992). In fact, on the assessed date of birth as at that date, she would have been aged 20, just shy of 21. The age assessment decision was communicated at a meeting on 18 February 2013 attended by the Claimant, Mr Clare and a representative from the Refugee Council. 

17. The Defendant treated the Claimant as if she was accommodated by it under section 20 Children Act 1989 and therefore as if she was a ‘looked after child’ for a total period of 19 weeks and 1 day between 8 October 2012 and 19 February 2013. This significance of this time period is addressed at paragraphs 37 and 38 below.

18. On 16 January 2013, the Claimant’s brother, PM, was age assessed by the Defendant as being 17 years old at that time and younger than the Claimant. As he was found to be a minor, he remained in the foster placement.  

19. The Claimant claimed asylum on 19 February 2013 and she was placed in adult NASS accommodation and later dispersed to Yorkshire. On 22 April 2013, the Claimant was interviewed as an adult in relation to her asylum claim. On 22 April 2013, she was referred into the NRM by the UKBA. She was subsequently moved back to London and is housed in NASS accommodation.

20. On 6 June 2013, the Home Office as Competent Authority made a decision that there were reasonable grounds for believing that the Claimant was a victim of trafficking for the purpose of the Trafficking Convention. However, on 23 October 2013, the Home Office made a negative decision as to whether there were Conclusive Grounds for believing that she was a victim of trafficking for the purposes of the Trafficking Convention.

21. On 25 October 2013, the Claimant’s asylum claim was refused and she appealed against the refusal. 

22. On 23 December 2013, the Claimant’s immigration solicitors, Birnberg Peirce & Partners, sent a letter before claim challenging the Conclusive Grounds decision under the NRM. Following a letter dated 31 December 2014 stating that only a First Responder may make a request for reconsideration under the NRM, on 20 January 2014, the NSPCC Child Trafficking Advice Team (“CTAC”) made a request for reconsideration of the Conclusive Grounds decision. On 5 February 2014, the UKVI NRM hub confirmed to the NSPCC CTAC that the Conclusive Grounds decision had been withdrawn. Another negative Conclusive Grounds decision was reached.

23. On 1 April 2014 the decision to refuse asylum dated 25 October 2013 was withdrawn. A further representation was submitted to the UKVI NRM hub in relation to the Conclusive Grounds decision on 4 June 2014. The NSPCC submitted a trafficking assessment to the NRM hub on 11 September 2014. On 19 October 2015 the Home Office agreed to reconsider the Conclusive Grounds decision. That reconsideration remains pending, as does a decision on the Claimant’s asylum claim. 

24. The Claimant’s aunt also abandoned her own daughter, a minor whom I will refer to in this judgment as ‘R’. It is recorded in PM’s age assessment that the aunt physically abused R. R has been taken into foster care. 

25. The Claimant and PM each underwent DNA testing in 2014 in order to prove their relationship with one another and with R. The results were the subject of a written report dated 4 April 2014 and were received on 9 May 2014. The DNA tests have established that the Claimant and PM are half-siblings and that PM is a half-sibling to R. I was told that the DNA tests were commissioned by the Defendant in connection with R. 

26. Various reports were collated in the course of the asylum claim and investigation of the Claimant’s trafficking complaints.

27. By letter dated 2 December 2015, the Claimant’s current community care solicitors, GT Stewart, wrote to the Defendant requesting that a fresh age assessment be conducted and enclosing material in support of that request comprising (in chronological order):

i) The results of the DNA testing referred to above.

ii) A report by Dr King, Consultant Psychiatrist, dated 16 December 2013;

iii) A report by Dr Cohen on scarring and on the Claimant’s birth dates dated 20 January 2014;

iv) A report by Victoria Nwogu, country expert on trafficking from Nigeria, dated 7 July 2014;

v) A report by Swati Pande of the National Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children (“NSPCC”) dated 11 September 2014;

vi) An expert opinion from Andrew Desmond, Anti-Trafficking Consultant and former detective in the trafficking team of the Metropolitan Police, dated 25 June 2015. 

28. The letter also set out relevant standards of age assessments referring to legal authority and asserted that the Merton guidance had not been complied with during the age assessment of the Claimant in that she had not been provided with an appropriate adult during her age assessment interviews and was given no advance opportunity to respond to any adverse points or findings in relation to alleged inconsistencies which were relied upon by the Defendant to discount her credibility. The necessity and lawfulness of those two Merton requirements being followed in a new age assessment were expressly put to the Defendant in the letter.

29. The Defendant, by its Decision letter dated 14 January 2016, refused to agree to reassess the Claimant’s age. The main reasons given in the letter were that:

i) The age assessment of 17 January 2013 was lawful;

ii) Clear reasons for the age assessment decision were given by the assessor at the time;

iii) No challenge by judicial review had been made at the relevant time to the age assessment;

iv) The assessor and other professionals acted professionally because they treated her as a child until the outcome of the assessment;

v) The Defendant does not complete age assessments on adults;

vi) The supportive documents related in the main to the Claimant’s asylum claim.

vii) The evidence all post-dated the age assessment so could not call into question the lawfulness of the age assessment. The DNA test was conducted in April 2014 and the Defendant did not consider the result would have altered the conclusion reached in respect of the Claimant’s age.

30. The Decision letter commented on the expert evidence supplied and asked for confirmation from the Claimant’s solicitors that the experts’ reports would be forwarded to the police in order for the allegation of child trafficking to be re-opened and fully investigated. The letter concluded that the Defendant’s position was that there was nothing in the letter dated 2 December 2015 to disturb the age assessment of 17 January 2013 or to warrant the carrying out of a fresh age assessment. Finally, it was stated that the Defendant noted the Claimant’s solicitors “comment about ‘manifest flaws and misrepresentations made in the age assessment of 17 January 2013’ and would ask that you revisit the age assessment (and the supporting documentation) which shows an alarming rate of inconsistency in your client’s account of events”.

31. A pre-action protocol letter of claim was sent by the Claimant’s solicitors to the Defendant on 15 February 2016 (though the letter is wrongly dated 15 February 2015).

32. A letter of response to letter of claim was sent by the Defendant on 2 March 2016. In this letter, the Defendant referred to the Claimant not having taken the opportunity to challenge the original age assessment although she had legal representation at the time and reiterated its position as stated in the letter dated 14 January 2016 although with provision of some additional reasons. One of these related to the Association of Directors of Children’s Services (ADCS) Guidance (dated October 2015) which is set out at paragraph 45 below. It was stated that “the new ‘evidence’ provided is, to all intents and purposes, evidence/information already available at the time for the original assessment” and that “In our client’s view, no evidence has been produced that would have led to a significantly different conclusion”. The Defendant stated that it did “not agree to undertake a Merton compliant age assessment as there is no reason to disturb the original age assessment dated 17.01.2013 which was, in any event not challenged”.

33. A letter of reply was sent by the Claimant’s solicitors to the Defendant on 22 March 2016, to which the Defendant replied on 4 April 2016 and the Claimant’s solicitors further responded on 11 April 2016. 

34. The claim for judicial review was issued on 14 April 2016. The Defendant acknowledged service and filed Summary Grounds on 24 June 2016.

35. In granting permission on the papers, Ms Sara Cockerill QC sitting as a Deputy High Court Judge, identified that the Decision to refuse reassessment went to whether the original age assessment decision was lawful rather than engaging with the substantive grounds for reassessment and in particular whether, in line with the ADCS guidance of October 2015, it had been considered whether the substance of that material constitutes other information which has come to light on the basis of which “a significantly different conclusion might be reached”. 

36. The Defendant’s Detailed Grounds dated 10 August 2016 and the short statement of Ms Karen Popely dated 30 August 2016 both addressed this specific issue. Ms Popely’s evidence is as follows:

“3. ….I can confirm that at the time the decision was made not to offer a further age assessment, I had considered all of the points made by [the Claimant’s] solicitors in correspondence.

4. I also had regard to the Age Assessment Guidance issued by the ADCS in October 2015 and nonetheless made a decision that a further assessment was not justified.

5. I have also read Hackney’s Detailed Grounds dated 10 August 2016 and I agree with the reasons given in those Detailed Grounds for finding that a further assessment was not justified.” 

(3) The significance of an age reassessment for the Claimant

37. The legal importance of an age reassessment for the Claimant, who is now an adult on her own case which is that she is now 19 years and 9 months old, is that she claims that if she had been assessed to be the age she claims, she would now be a “former relevant child” within the meaning of section 23C(1)(b) of the Children Act 1989 towards whom the Defendant would owe on-going statutory ‘care-leaver’ duties up to the age of 21 (i.e. a further 1 year and 3 months) and possibly to the age of 25 (although this would be contingent on the Claimant continuing in full-time education). 

38. A Joint Agreed Note dated 18 November 2016 was filed by the parties in which it was agreed as follows:

i) that a “former relevant child” is one who was being “looked after” by a local authority when he/she attained the age of 18 and immediately before ceasing to be looked after was an “eligible child”. 

ii) By section 22(1)(b) of the Children Act 1989, any reference to a child who is looked after by a local authority is a reference to a child who is provided with accommodation by the authority in the exercise of, to put it shortly, certain social services functions. One such function is the provision of accommodation under section 20 of the 1989 Act, by which an authority can come under a duty to accommodate a “child in need” (as defined by section 17(10) of the 1989 Act). This is the function the Defendant purported to exercise in respect of the Claimant i.e. on the assumption pending the age assessment that she was a child.

iii) By paragraph 19B(2) of Schedule 2 to the 1989 Act, an “eligible child” means, subject to immaterial matters, a child who is 16 or 17 and who has been looked after by a local authority for a prescribed period, which began after he reached a prescribed age and ended after he reached the age of 16. By regulation 3(1) of the Children (Leaving Care) (England) Regulations 2011, for the purpose of the said sub-paragraph the prescribed period was 13 weeks and the prescribed age was 14. Those regulations were revoked as from 1 April 2011 and the 2010 regulations do not prescribe a period or age (which the parties assert may well be an oversight).

iv) Assuming the prescribed period remains 13 weeks and the prescribed age 14, and if the Claimant was born on 18 March 1997 as she alleges, she did not become an eligible child because that period did not end after she had reached the age of 16 on 16 March 2013; it ended on 19 February 2013.

v) However, in R (GE (Eritrea)) v Secretary of State for the Home Department and another [2014] EWCA Civ 1490, [2015] 1 WLR 4123, the Court of Appeal held that a person who had been entitled to the provision of assistance by a local authority under the Children Act as a child in need, but to whom no assistance had in fact been provided, did not fall within the definitions of “looked after” child, “relevant child” and “eligible child” in the 1989 Act and could not therefore, on attaining majority become a “former relevant child” for the purposes of section 23C of that Act. The Court also held however, that where a court subsequently determined that a person initially assessed as an adult had been a child at the relevant time, it could not deem accommodation to have been provided pursuant to section 20 of the 1989 Act; but that (per Davis and Christopher Clarke LJJ) a local authority that wrongly, albeit fairly and reasonably, concluded that a person was not a child and so did not perform any duties towards him as a child in need under the 1989 Act, acted unlawfully in breach of its duty under section 20(1); that a local authority had a discretion to make good any unlawfulness to provide services which it might have been obliged to provide had the person been a former relevant child; but that there was no general rule that, wherever it had acted unlawfully, a local authority had to undo its past errors to the fullest extent possible; and that how any such discretion was to be exercised was a matter for the local authority to determine in the light of whatever application was made and in the circumstances applying when it was invoked. See generally paragraphs 55, 70-73 and 98-100 of the judgment.

vi) Although in GE, the claimant had not been accommodated at all by the local authority concerned, it is agreed that the decision applies equally where a child has been accommodated by one but not for long enough for him to become an eligible child.

vii) The decision in GE has since been applied, in R (A) v. Enfield LBC [2016] EWHC 567, where the claimant was accommodated under section 20 of the Children Act but not for long enough to become an eligible child, in that she was accommodated for 79 days before she turned 18 (at [56]). She sought declaratory relief to the effect that Enfield had unlawfully failed to accommodate her, that had it not been for its errors she would have become a former relevant child on turning 18 and that it was to consider its discretion to treat her as one (see [51]), which relief Hayden J granted for the reasons set out at [52-58]).  
39. In light of this Joint Note, it appears to be agreed by the parties that whilst the Claimant did not in fact become an eligible child because the period in which she was looked after ended before she had reached the age of 16, nevertheless if the reason for this was because the Defendant wrongly terminated her foster care as a result of an age assessment which transpires upon reassessment to have been an incorrect assessment of age, the Defendant would consider, in the exercise of its discretion, its own error in that regard and take that into account in determining what obligations it might owe to the Claimant. Accordingly, if the Claimant was to be assessed to be the age she claims, she would potentially be entitled to be treated as a “former relevant child” within the meaning of section 23C(1)(b) of the Children Act 1989 and, if so, the Defendant would owe on-going statutory ‘care-leaver’ duties up to the age of 21 and possibly to the age of 25 as a result. The Defendant expressly accepted at the hearing on 15 November 2016 that there is, at least in theory, some benefit to the Claimant as a result of having a reassessment of her age.

40. It is also contended by the Claimant that acceptance of the Claimant’s age and credibility is relevant to and important for her claims for asylum and contention that she has been a victim of trafficking (age being a relevant factor in relation to the question of victim identification) and to the police investigation into the trafficking allegation which was closed but which the Claimant may invite the police to reconsider (paragraph 10 of the Claimant’s skeleton). There is support for this submission in the authorities referred to at paragraphs 41 and 42 below.

(4) Relevant law and guidance

41. The law in relation to the conduct of age assessments was essentially common ground between the parties. 

42. The importance of a child’s age being properly and lawfully determined was emphasised by the Court of Appeal in the case of R (AE) v London Borough of Croydon [2012] EWHC Civ 547 at [2]:

“The issue of a young unaccompanied asylum seeker’s exact age is legally important for at least three reasons. First, by section 20(1) of the Children Act 1989 local authorities have to provide accommodation for any child (i.e. someone under the age of 18) in need within their area who appears to need it because (amongst other things) there is no person who has parental responsibility for him. The local authority may also have to provide material support beyond the age of 18 and in some cases beyond the age of 21. Secondly, a decision on the young person’s exact age is relevant to the way the Secretary of State for the Home Department (‘SSHD’) is required to discharge her immigration and asylum functions ‘having regard to the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of children who are in the United Kingdom’: see Section 55 of the Borders, Citizenship and Immigration Act 2009. Lastly, a favourable finding will enhance AE’s credibility in his claim for asylum.”  

43. In R (A) v Croydon London Borough Council [2009] UKSC 8; [2009] 1 WLR 2557 at [4-5] and [51] & [54] respectively, Lady Hale and Lord Hope explained the implications of getting age wrong in relation to a child’s immigration status, access to welfare and benefits, health services and schooling.

44. In carrying out an age assessment, local authorities are primary fact finders. The following principles drawn from the case-law in relation to the conduct of an age assessment and relied upon by the Claimant were not in dispute between the parties:

i) The decision-makers cannot determine age solely on the basis of the appearance of the applicant, except in clear cases (Merton at [37], R (NA) v London Borough of Croydon [2009] EWHC 2357 (Admin) at [27], R (R) v London Borough of Croydon [2011] EWHC 1473 (Admin) at [15]);

ii) Demeanour can also be notoriously unreliable (NA at [28]). It will generally need to be viewed together with other things (A and WK v London Borough of Croydon & ors [2009] EWHC 939 (Admin) at [56]);

iii) If the chronological information derived from the child’s oral history is credible, believable and plausible, any observation about physical appearance or demeanour is unlikely to tip the balance against the claimed age (R (AM) v London Borough of Croydon [2011] EWHC 3308 (Admin) at [44]);

iv) There should be no predisposition, divorced from the available information and evidence, to assume that an applicant is an adult or a child. Any decision must be based on the particular facts of the individual and therefore the decision-maker must seek to elicit the general background of the applicant, including his family circumstances and history, his educational background, and his activities during the previous few years. Ethnic and cultural information may also be important (Merton at [37-38]);

v) The assessors must try to establish a rapport with the applicant and questioning should be open-ended and child-friendly (A and WK at [13]);

vi) There is no burden of proof imposed on the applicant to prove his age during the assessment (Merton at [38], confirming in R (CJ) v Cardiff City Council [2011] EWHC Civ 1590 at [21]);

vii) Benefit of the doubt is always given to the child since it is recognised that age assessment is not a scientific process (A and WK at [40]). There should be no assumption that a child is lying;

viii) The child must have an appropriate adult during the age assessment (FZ v Croydon [2011] EWCA Civ 59 at [23-25]; R (GE) v Secretary of State for the Home Department [2015] EWHC 1406 (Admin) at [22]);

ix) It is a point of elementary fairness that the applicant should be given a fair and proper opportunity, at a stage when a possible adverse decision is only provisional, to deal with important points adverse to his case and provide an explanation (FZ at [21]; R (NA) v London Borough of Croydon [2009] EWHC 2357 (Admin)).

x) The decision must be based on firm grounds. Assessments devoid of details and/or reasons for the conclusion are not compliant with the Merton guidelines; the conclusions must be “expressed with sufficient detail to explain all the main adverse points which the fuller document showed had influenced the decision” (FZ at [22]; A and WK at [12]).

45. In R (AM) v Solihull MBC (AAJR) [2012] UKUT 00118 (IAC) at [20], the Upper Tribunal held that “A person such as a teacher or even a family member, who can point to consistent attitudes, and a number of supporting instances over a considerable period of time is likely to carry weight that observations made in the artificial surroundings of an interview cannot carry.”

46. Both parties rely on the ADCS Guidance (dated October 2015) which was in force at time of the Decision as providing relevant best practice guidance for local authorities who are considering whether to conduct a fresh age assessment. I have considered all of the parts of the Guidance to which I was referred. Chapter 7 on page 31 of the Guidance which provides guidance as to when a reassessment of age is appropriate is of particular relevance. It states:

“Where further information becomes available
Age assessment is a difficult process for children and young people and for social workers undertaking the assessment; it should only be undertaken when there is significant reason to do so. However, there will be occasions when a further assessment is required. Other than on those occasions when reliable and authoritative information is available, an assessment will not allow the assessing social workers to know the age of a child or young person and will only allow them to come to a balanced and reasonable conclusion based on the information to hand and on benefit of the doubt. Other information may come to light at a later stage, for example, in the form of documentation or as professionals get to know the child or young person over time, which leads them to believe that the assessed age is wrong. 

Where you believe that a significantly different conclusion might be reached and that the child or young person may be notably older or younger than initially assessed, then a new assessment should be undertaken. In most circumstances you will need to talk with the young person about this new information. There may be occasions when a re-assessment does not have to involve further questioning; for example, where new documentation has been provided which supports the child or young person’s claim and it can be relied upon, a decision on age can be made on that basis. Any new decision and the reasons for it must be clearly communicated with the child or young person, and if they are to remain in your service, then thought must be given to rebuilding trust and confidence. The Home Office must be advised of any new decision, and the child or young person will need to be issued with new immigration documents which reflect their assessed age.” 

According to the ADCS Guidance, the issue for a local authority is whether it believes that a “significantly different conclusion might be reached and that the child or young person may be notably older or younger than initially assessed”. There is no time restriction identified within the Guidance regarding when an age assessment is no longer appropriate (as was accepted on behalf of the Defendant at the hearing on 15 November 2016). Further, there is no restriction stated in relation to the type of evidence that could trigger a reassessment. The ADCS Guidance also covers the role of “appropriate adults” at Chapter 3 page 16, Chapter 4 page 19, and Appendix I on page 47. Chapter 5 on pages 25-26 gives guidance on the addressing of gaps and inconsistencies and the clarifying of information with the child or young person before reaching a decision.

47. I have also been provided with the London Asylum Seekers Consortium booklet on “Age Assessment Good Practice Guidance: Pan London Local Authority Practitioners Review of Current Practice” Edition 1 dated January 2013. Paragraphs 4.4, 4.8 and 6.2 provide guidance on relevant procedural safeguards when conducting age assessments.

(5) The materiality and relevance of the material supplied to the Defendant on 2 December 2015 

48. I will now consider the materiality and relevance of the material supplied to the Defendant on 2 December 2015 to the issue of a further age assessment. There were 4 categories of material supplied to the Defendant:

i) The report of the DNA testing on the Claimant and her brother;

ii) Various scarring, trafficking and country expert reports;

iii) The psychiatric report of Dr Catherine King dated 16 December 2014;

iv) The NSPCC report by Ms Swati Pande dated 11 September 2014.

49. I accept that the material above was indeed considered by the decision-maker, Ms Karen Popely, who has provided to the Court a witness statement to that effect. The statement was not challenged by the Claimant. 

50. (1) The DNA tests: At the time of the 2013 age assessment, the Defendant raised an issue over whether the Claimant and PM were siblings. In the age assessment reference was made to PM who “is reported to be her brother” (emphasis added). It is apparent from notes dated 12 October 2012, an email dated 15 October 2012 and the minutes of a meeting on 9 January 2013 that there existed a suspicion that the Claimant and her brother were married rather than being siblings. The DNA tests were not available at time of the age assessment and were subsequently commissioned by the Defendant in connection with R with the results available in May 2014. In the Decision letter, the Defendant requested that the Claimant’s solicitors “confirm the real reason behind the DNA testing”. However, it is now accepted that the Defendant commissioned the DNA tests (paragraph 35, Defendant’s skeleton). 

51. The Defendant, whilst accepting that for the most part, the Defendant’s records show that the authority suspected at the outset that the Claimant and PM were partners rather than siblings, points to the fact that by the time of the age assessment dated 17 January 2013, it was treating the Claimant and her half-brother as siblings and they were referred to as such. It further contends that the differences in accents and inconsistencies of accounts of life in Lagos which were considered to undermine the reliability of the Claimant’s stated age would have existed regardless of their status as siblings and that those discrepancies counted against her rather than doubts about her relationship with PM. The Defendant robustly asserts in its Detailed Grounds that the DNA test evidence is “irrelevant as regards both [the Claimant’s] age and credibility” (paragraph 22).

52. Whilst I accept that the fact that the Claimant and her brother are half-siblings does not bear directly on the Claimant’s age, it is clearly relevant to the credibility of her account and the results of the DNA testing have dispelled any residual suspicion over the nature of the Claimant’s relationship with PM, a matter which was relevant to the assessment of her credibility. The Defendant had identified on 9 January 2013, before the 2013 age assessment was concluded, that a DNA test would be informative in order to establish the relationship between the Claimant, PM and R but it did not commission the same at that time. I do not suggest that it was obligatory for the Defendant to carry out DNA testing as part of the January 2013 age assessment. However, when the results of its own DNA testing were put before the Defendant on 2 December 2015, they were relevant to the Claimant’s credibility, a factor that is undoubtedly a very important factor when arriving at an assessment of age. It was expressly accepted by the Mr Harrop-Griffiths in his oral submissions on behalf of the Defendant on 15 November 2016 that credibility is an issue which goes to age and is very important. 

53. (2) The scarring, trafficking and country expert reports: All of the reports in this category were prepared in connection with the Claimant’s asylum claim and/or trafficking complaint. The Claimant asserts that they were and are relevant to the Claimant’s credibility and the plausibility of her account. 

54. The scarring report by Dr Juliet Cohen dated 20 January 2014 was produced after interviewing and examining the Claimant on 13 January 2014. It is relied on by the Claimant to confirm that it was possible, albeit unusual, that the Claimant and PM could be born 8 months apart (paragraphs 53-54 of the report), such timing having been rejected in the 2013 age assessment. She also, after analysing the Claimant’s scars, accepted the attribution of physical assault and beatings with a cane (paragraphs 37-39 of the report). Finally, she diagnosed the Claimant as suffering from anxiety, depression, low mood, social avoidance, sleep disorder, fatigue and poor appetite, features that only emerged after establishing a good rapport and through careful open-ended questioning techniques (paragraphs 28 and 50 of the report). It is contended by the Claimant that the Defendant had not had regard to the Claimant’s mental health when reaching adverse findings that the Claimant had been vague and had withheld information. 

55. The Defendant, on the other hand, contends that Dr Cohen expressed no opinion about her age and that the report does not prove that the Claimant was suffering from any mental health issues whilst accommodated by the Defendant. The Defendant relies on a health assessment by Dr Brown dated 3 January 2013 to the contrary. It also points out that Dr Brown’s assessment was inconsistent with the Claimant’s claims to have been assaulted by her aunt, which claims Dr Cohen addressed. 

56. Ms Victoria Nwogu was instructed to produce a Nigeria Country Expert Report and to comment on the plausibility of the Claimant’s account of being trafficked. Her report is dated 7 July 2014. She did not interview the Claimant or express any opinion regarding her age. She stated expressly that she was not an expert in age assessment and could not give an estimate of the Claimant’s age. She stated that she felt comfortable in accepting the Claimant’s claimed age. An Expert Trafficking report was prepared by Abigail Stepnitz dated 24 July 2014 and a further Expert Opinion on Trafficking and Policing by Andrew Desmond was obtained dated 25 June 2015. These reports were relied upon by the Claimant to challenge the Defendant’s rejection of the Claimant’s account of her life in Lagos and the UK, with weight being placed on adverse views expressed by the police. 

57. The Defendant’s case is that Mr Desmond’s comment to the effect that the outcome of the DNA tests would have caused the Defendant to believe the Claimant about her age is unjustified speculation. It contends that Ms Stepnitz appeared to have made a peremptory decision about the Claimant’s age.

58. The Defendant in its Decision Letter dismissed this evidence, albeit from experts in their relevant fields, as being no more than “other people’s opinions”, referred to the Claimant’s “wild allegations of child trafficking” and suggested that the Claimant’s solicitors should have directed the reports instead to the police. 

59. In the Defendant’s skeleton, the Defendant states (at paragraph 65) that:

i) None of the experts professed to be an expert on deciding age or on carrying out age assessments;

ii) None of them purported to carry out an age assessment;

iii) None of them had more than very limited contact with the Claimant, in a formal setting, and Ms Nwogu had none;

iv) None of them sought the views of those who had had extended contact with her, apart from Ms Stepnitz who accepted the Claimant’s solicitors’ view.

60. It is further stated (at paragraph 67) that the Defendant was alive to the possibility that the Claimant had been the subject of trafficking and it was open to it to find that the reports did not add to its stock of knowledge to the extent a significantly different conclusion on age might be reached, to apply the wording of the guidance.

61. I consider that the above reports do provide evidence that the Claimant’s account of child trafficking is consistent and plausible (see the Nwogu report at Section B, paragraph 37 and paragraph 207; the Stepnitz report at paragraphs 18-22 & 123 and the Desmond report at paragraph 68). Further Mr Desmond was critical of the adverse views of the police that were attributed weight by the Defendant in the 2013 age assessment. So far as Dr Cohen’s report is concerned, her finding that the Claimant and PM could be born within 8 months of each other is corroborated by the DNA test results which confirm that they are half-siblings. Her conclusions about the Claimant’s mental health raises issues about whether the Claimant was suffering from mental health issues at the time of the 2013 age assessment notwithstanding that Dr Brown, who is a general practitioner and whose assessment was not intended to be a mental health assessment, did not so conclude in his health assessment, and whether, if so, it might be relevant in explaining the vagueness of answers given by the Claimant. This would be potentially relevant to the assessment of the Claimant’s credibility.
62. I find that there is substance in the Claimant’s complaint that the Defendant did not really engage with the substance of the material supplied, the expertise of the authors of the reports and instead dismissed the material on the basis that the Claimant was making “wild allegations of child trafficking”, suggesting it was a matter only for the police. This was to ignore both the support which the reports gave to the Claimant in relation to her allegations of trafficking and the fact that the said material had led to the withdrawal of a negative Conclusive Grounds decision and a reconsideration of the trafficking complaint which is still pending. Further, the Defendant’s conclusion that the expert reports were a police matter and not pertinent to the Claimant’s age seemingly does not take account of the fact they are also relevant to the Defendant’s assessment of the Claimant’s credibility, which was substantially adverse to the Claimant in relation to the 2013 age assessment.

63.  (3) The psychiatric report of Dr Catherine King dated 16 December 2014: Dr King was instructed to prepare a psychiatric report in connection with the Claimant’s asylum application. She interviewed the Claimant on 16 December 2013 for a period of 2.5 hours. She stated that there was nothing in the Claimant’s presentation that indicated the Claimant was aged 18 or over. She concluded that the Claimant met the criteria for diagnosis of major depressive disorder displaying 5 of the 9 symptoms for this disorder. She concluded that the illness was consistent with the Claimant’s account and arises directly from the loss of her parents and the physical and psychological abuse perpetrated by her aunt. Dr King identified difficulties in the Claimant’s thinking and concentration arising from the diagnosis and referred to victims of trafficking and exploitation often presenting as older, having been aged prematurely by their experiences.
64. The Defendant asserts, as with Dr Cohen, that whilst Dr King diagnosed depression, there was nothing to suggest that the Claimant suffered from this whilst accommodated by the Defendant and that Dr Brown’s health assessment was to the contrary. 
65. I find that the report of Dr King adds further support to that of Dr Cohen and again raises issues about whether the Claimant was suffering from mental health issues at the time of the 2013 age assessment notwithstanding Dr Brown’s health assessment, and whether if so it might be relevant in explaining the vagueness of answers given by the Claimant. This would again be potentially relevant to the assessment of the Claimant’s credibility.
66. (4) The NSPCC report by Swati Pande dated 11 September 2014: This report is prepared by an experienced social worker and essentially amounts to a critique of the Defendant’s approach to assessing age in the 2013 age assessment and in particular on the reliance placed on undocumented and unsubstantiated adverse comments regarding the Claimant’s age. 

67. The Defendant points to the fact that Ms Pande appeared to have believed that Ms Stepnitz and Dr King were experts on age and contends that the value of her comments was extremely limited.

68. I find that the NSPCC report is not material in relation to the issue of reassessment in light of the fact that the procedural deficiencies relied upon for the purpose of the present claim are those set out at paragraph 9 above.

69. In summary, according to the ADCS Guidance in relation to when it is appropriate to conduct a reassessment, the Defendant had to consider not simply whether it might have a bearing on the assessment but whether “a significantly different conclusion might be reached”. That is a higher test and involves consideration of the degree to which the material might impact on the existing age assessment.

70. The material identified above (apart from that of Ms Pande) goes to credibility of the Claimant and her accounts or criticisms of the age assessment performed in January 2013. Whilst the Defendant claims that it was justified in dismissing the expert reports on the basis that the experts did not “express an opinion about [the Claimant’s] age” (Detailed Grounds at paragraphs 23 & 29-32), this does not take into account the (accepted) relevance of credibility in relation to the assessment of age. It is accepted by the Defendant at paragraph 10 of its Note dated 5 December 2016 that three reasons were given on the last page of the assessment form by the assessor as to why the Claimant was found to be an adult. Of those reasons, as stated by Mr Harrop-Griffiths, one related to “inconsistencies in her account” and another related to “discrepancies concerning [the Claimant] and her half-brother, PM”. These are both reasons which are based on the Claimant’s credibility.

71. The Defendant asserted in its Decision Letter that the material, despite post-dating the 2013 age assessment, was “to all intents and purposes, evidence/information already available at the time of the original [2013] assessment”. Whilst it might be right that that some of this material could have been obtained prior to January 2013, this assertion disregards the fact that an asylum claim or trafficking complaint was only raised after the Claimant was removed from foster care following the 2013 Age Assessment in February 2013, at which time the Claimant was able to access legal advice and representation, and further the fact that it was the Defendant itself which commissioned the DNA testing conducted during 2014. In any event, whether or not the information could have been available at the time of the original age assessment is not apparently relevant under the ADCS Guidance. If the information is “new” or “come[s] to light at a later stage”, the question of whether to reassess age is to be considered in light of it. 

72. In summary, I find that the material listed at paragraph 47(1)-(3) above was material and relevant and that it was unreasonable (in a Wednesbury sense) for the Defendant to have failed to take it sufficiently into account, given that the Claimant’s credibility was an important, if not very important factor in relation to the 2013 age assessment. 

73. In addition, the terms of the Decision letter and the pre-action letter of response do give the strong impression that the Defendant was directing its attention towards the defence of its 2013 age assessment from criticism rather than by properly considering, in light of the ADCS guidance and the new material with which it had been supplied, whether a reassessment of the Claimant’s age should be carried out. I note that Ms Popely has stated (at paragraph 5 of her statement) that “I have also read Hackney’s Detailed Grounds dated 10 August 2016 and I agree with the reasons given in those Detailed Grounds for finding that a further assessment was not justified.” The Claimant has contended that there is a very substantial degree of retrospective justification of the Decision in this case, and, in my judgment, this point, in light of the Decision letter, the letter of response and Ms Popely’s evidence, has considerable force. What is largely absent in this case from the Decision letter and the pre-action letter of response is evidence of any clear process of decision-making which can be shown to have carefully considered the new material applying the relevant ADCS guidance. 

(6) The relevance and materiality of the procedural deficiencies in the 2013 age assessment

74. As identified above, the Defendant accepts that the Claimant was entitled to have a Merton-compliant age assessment carried out in 2013 and the Defendant accepts that this did not occur in two important procedural respects:

i) The absence of an appropriate adult, to which the Claimant was entitled. DC Jade Allen did not adopt this role on 20 November 2012 and in any event she was not impartial as she participated in the questioning and held adverse views on the Claimant’s age that were relied upon by the Defendant. The attendance of a member of the Refugee Council when the Defendant delivered its age assessment decision on 18 February 2013 was not relevant to the conduct of the age assessment. 

ii) The Claimant was deprived of the opportunity to respond to adverse findings at a provisional stage in order to correct any misunderstandings or provide further details where required.

75. The Defendant further accepts that it did not consider these procedural deficiencies as part of its decision-making process in relation to whether to reassess the Claimant. However, the Defendant contends that this was firstly, not relevant to the question of whether to reassess and, secondly, had they been considered, would not have made any material difference to the outcome.  

76. The Claimant asserts that the fact that the minimum standards of procedural fairness were not previously observed should have been a materially relevant consideration that the Defendant took into account when presented with a request to reassess age, thereby providing the Defendant with an opportunity to correct the procedural failings of the previous assessment. 

77. The issue of procedural breaches and detriment was addressed in the Joint Agreed Note dated 18 November 2016. The parties are agreed that:

i) The passage in Michael Fordham QC’s Judicial Review Handbook (6th edition) (“Fordham”) within the chapter headed ‘Principle 4 Materiality’ at paragraph 4.3 is correct. That paragraph states that one way in which the Court can look to the substance of the case, in the light of an error of approach, is to ask whether the claimant can in truth be said to have suffered no ‘prejudice’ as a result of the public law wrong, i.e. whether the flaw did no conceivable harm, in which case the Court may decide not to interfere.
ii) The passage at paragraph 4.5 of Fordham that judges will not readily accede to the arguments that a public law flaw was non-material or non-prejudicial or that a remedy would be futile is also correct. That paragraph states that: 
“Public law standards matter, and public bodies should not be encouraged to breach them in the belief that they will be ‘let off’ by the Court. Moreover, it is wrong in principle for the Court to become drawn into appraising the strength of the merits, or speculating as to how they would have been or would now be decided. There is therefore a heavy onus on a public body to show that judicial review should be refused because the decision ‘inevitably’ would have been, or would now be, the same.”

78. The Defendant contends for the reasons set out in its Note dated 5 December 2016 that “it can demonstrate that there has been no material adverse consequence to [the Claimant] of the two breaches, because it is clear from her witness statement that had she had the opportunity to correct the mistakes she alleges it would have made no difference to the outcome and clear from it also that the absence of an appropriate adult made no material difference either”. It refers to the Claimant’s witness statement in 2014 and asserts that the mistakes in the assessment referred to are, for the most part, not errors of fact relating to the reasons. The Defendant then identifies 3 exceptions as follows:

i) In paragraph 39, her saying on 20 November 2012 that she had heard the explosion from her home, whereas she says in her statement that she heard about it on the television.  

ii) In paragraph 40, her saying on 9 October 2012 that her aunt had taken her to an address in Ealing, Northfield Avenue, whereas she says in her statement that she did not say this.

iii) In paragraph 41, her saying that her aunt had not hit her, whereas she says in her statement she had told ‘them’ her aunt had hit her. 

The Defendant asserts that whilst there may be some substance to the first of these, there is none or little as regards the other two, because it is extremely doubtful the social workers would have recorded an address that meant nothing to her and not only had she told the social worker, Mr. Clare, and a police officer that her aunt had not hit her but she also told Dr. Brown, on 3 January 2013, that her aunt had not physically abused her. It is contended by the Defendant that, looking at the totality of the assessment, the Court can be satisfied that had the Claimant made these points in advance of the age assessment decision being made, the Defendant would nonetheless have been entitled to find she was aged 21 at the time.

79. At paragraph 14 of the Note dated 5 December 2016, it is contended that, similarly, it cannot be enough for the Decision to be quashed that no such adult was present during the age assessment. It is contended that a claimant must in practice identify some adverse consequence of this, some unfairness that would or might not have happened had one been present, for example a bullying manner in questioning. Otherwise, a court cannot properly decide whether the absence of an appropriate adult made or could have made a difference.

80. The Claimant contends in her Note dated 12 December 2016 that in respect of the challenge based on the Defendant’s failure to take into account serious and multiple procedural failings that undermine the reliability of the 2013 age assessment, the Defendant’s justification in refusing to revisit the question of the Claimant’s age by reference to the 2013 age assessment is both unlawful and irrational given the sheer extent of the breaches of the required minimum standards of procedural fairness in that assessment. The Claimant further states that it is clear from the Decision and the Defendant’s pre-action letter of response and accompanying explanation for refusing to undertake a fresh assessment, that these procedural failings were not considered and did not form any part of the decision-making process. The Claimant submits that the fact of this omission renders the Defendant’s refusal to reassess flawed, unreasonable and unlawful and of a nature that is clearly material given what is at stake for the Claimant. The Court is invited to exercise considerable caution in taking into account reasons relating to materiality that did not form part of the Defendant’s decision-making process, its contemporaneous explanation or its pleaded summary or detailed defence. It is submitted that one would reasonably expect the Defendant to have raised materiality at an earlier stage, or have produced witness statement evidence in support, had it formed such a central component of its defence to the challenge.  

81. The Claimant further relies heavily on the passage at paragraph 4.5 of Fordham cited above as setting out the correct approach to the issue and dangers of materiality resulting in relief being withheld. It is stated that, as set out in paragraph 44 of the Claimant’s skeleton argument, it is now accepted by the Defendant that she is not required to identify a specific detriment that was caused by these unlawful procedural failings or a flawed decision-making process and that the Claimant maintains that the mere and undisputed fact that multiple procedural safeguards were breached was sufficient to bring the reliability of the 2013 age assessment into question which in turn was a material factor the Defendant should have properly considered when requested to undertake a fresh-age assessment. Its failure to do so is said in turn to constitute a material error of law. The Claimant states that the leading authorities specific to the niche area of age assessment public law challenges and procedural breaches do not place any onus or burden of proof on Claimants to identify a ‘prejudice’ or ‘harm’ before the court is willing to quash the imputed age assessment in circumstances where procedural breaches occurred: Merton at [55-56] R (NA) v Croydon London Borough Council [2009] EWHC 2357 (Admin) at [50-60 & 70], R (FZ) v Croydon London Borough Council [2011] EWCA Civ 59 at [21–25], R(J) v Secretary of State for the Home Department  [2011] EWHC 3073 (Admin) at [13-18], Durani v Secretary of State for the Home Department & Nottingham County Council [2013] EWHC 284 [78-87], R (GE Eritrea) v Secretary of State for the Home Department [2015] EWHC 1406 at [82-89], A & WK v Croydon [2009] EWHC 939 (Admin) at [44], AAM v Secretary of State for the Home Department [2012] EWHC 2567 at [16-17 & 113]. It is further contended that the relevant authorities cited in Fordham go a step further in confirming that the heavy onus lies squarely with the Defendant to establish in this case that no such detriment has arisen from the procedural breaches and that the Decision would inevitably have been the same if it is to make good its submission that they made no material difference to the outcome.

82. It is well established in the case-law referred to above that the procedural safeguards to which local authorities are required to adhere in conducting age assessments are important to ensure fairness and the proper participation of the minor or young person who finds themselves alone in the UK without any adult exercising parental responsibility. These safeguards also operate to assist the local authority in conducting a proper and inquisitorial assessment that seeks to obtain all relevant and accurate information upon which it can properly consider and assess age. The importance of adherence to, and in turn, the significance of any breach of these procedural safeguards must therefore not be considered lightly.

83. In relation to the issue of whether the Defendant was under a duty to take into account the acknowledged procedural deficiencies of the original age assessment, I consider that the approach taken in R (GE (Eritrea)) v Secretary of State for the Home Department [2014] EWCA Civ 1490; [2015] 1 WLR 4123 (referred to at paragraph 37(e) to (g) above) is relevant in that a local authority has at least a discretion to make good any unlawfulness that it has committed in the past and may, in some circumstances, be obliged to do so. At [54-55], Christopher Clarke LJ stated as follows: 

“54. I accept that a local authority may use its discretionary powers to make good any unlawfulness that it has committed in the past and may, in some circumstances, be obliged to do so. In R(S) v Secretary of State for the Home Department [2007] Imm AR 781 this court drew attention to the fact that the Secretary of State had a residual power to grant indefinite leave to remain to someone no longer entitled to refugee status as such; that the grant of indefinite leave might provide a remedy for unfairness; and that it was open to the court to determine that a legally material factor in the exercise of the discretion was the correction of injustice. In an extreme case the court could hold that the unfairness was so obvious, and the remedy so plain, that there was only one way in which the Secretary of State could reasonably exercise his discretion. (That appears to be what Thirlwall J decided in R (R) v Croydon London Borough Council [2013] EWHC 4243.) The court recognised that the Secretary of State’s decision would fall to be made on the basis of present circumstances but ‘those circumstances might include the present need to remedy injustice caused by past illegality’: para 47.

55. There is no general rule that, wherever it has acted unlawfully, a local authority must undo its past errors to the fullest extent that it can. Much will depend on the circumstances, including whether or not the claimant had sought interim relief and been refused (as here), whether he was guilty of unacceptable delay, and whether and to what extent the authority or the claimant should be regarded as blameworthy. There may be countervailing considerations of public interest which would entitle it to refuse any relief at all. It may be relevant to consider what other remedies are open to the claimant. The matter would be one for the discretion of the local authority, to be determined in the light of whatever application is made and in the circumstances applying when it is invoked.”

84. In relation to the relevance of the procedural deficiencies in this case, whilst the Defendant is right to point to the fact that the age assessment was not challenged by the Claimant, and she is now out of time to do so, I do consider that the acknowledged fact that the Claimant’s age assessment was not Merton-compliant in two respects was nevertheless a matter that was relevant to, and should have been considered as part of, the Defendant’s decision-making process in relation to whether to reassess the Claimant’s age. This is because the existence of procedural deficiencies potentially affected the reliability as well as the fairness of the 2013 age assessment. In R (AS) v Croydon London Borough Council [2011] EWHC 2091 (Admin), HHJ Thornton QC sitting as a Deputy High Court Judge stated at [17]:

“The relevant minimum standards to be expected of such assessment interviews were originally set out by Stanley Burnton J in Merton. The relevant standards are now commonly called “Merton compliant” standards and they are used as the starting point for any assessment of the fairness and reliability of a disputed local authority age assessment.”

85. In relation to whether the procedural deficiencies were or were not material in the present case, the parties are agreed that there is a heavy onus on a public body to show that judicial review should be refused because the decision ‘inevitably’ would have been, or would now be, the same. I find that the Defendant has not here discharged that heavy onus. It is relevant that not one, but two, important procedural safeguards were breached in the conduct of the original age assessment. This affects the reliability and fairness of the assessment reached. I agree with the Claimant’s submission that the Defendant’s submissions show a degree of conflation of issues of procedural unfairness and substantive unfairness and that in circumstances where this challenge is a pure public law challenge to a refusal to reassess, as opposed to a full fact finding hearing with the benefit of oral evidence for the court to determine age as a precedent fact, this Court is simply not in a position to determine exactly how and to what extent any procedural failings may or may not have impacted upon the Claimant’s answers, or to reach the conclusion invited by the Defendant that no material detriment was caused. To attempt to do so would be based on conjecture or speculation which would be wrong in principle, as warned against at paragraph 4.5 of Fordham set out at paragraph 76 above. Accordingly, I am unable to conclude that the procedural deficiencies would not have made any material difference to the 2013 age assessment (as contended by the Defendant) and/or to the outcome of the Decision on 14 January 2016 whether to reassess the Claimant’s age, had the procedural deficiencies been considered (which they were not). 

(7) The Defendant’s alleged policy of not conducting age assessments on adults

86. One of the reasons given in the Decision letter was that the Defendant did not conduct age assessments on adults. Despite the Claimant’s requests for disclosure of any policy that precluded assessment of adults by letters dated 15 February 2016 and 22 March 2016, no such policy has been disclosed by the Defendant or elaborated on. It was accepted by Mr Harrop-Griffiths on behalf of the Defendant at the hearing that there may exist situations, particularly in relation to young adults, where a person’s legal rights or credibility are potentially affected by an age assessment and where it may be appropriate for a reassessment to be carried out. This is consistent with MVN v London Borough of Greenwich [2015] EWHC 1942 (Admin) at [15] where Picken J stated as follows:

“I start by making it clear that the fact that, even on his case, MVN has recently become an adult does not make these proceedings academic. This is because, as Miss Screeche-Powell explained in her opening skeleton argument, local authorities owe duties under the Children Act 1989 to children in need in their area, duties which include a duty to provide accommodation and a duty to maintain, and those duties do not end when the child attains the age of 18 since he or she becomes a ‘care leaver’, and as such entitled to support up to his or her twenty-fifth birthday as well as potentially entitled to benefits under legislation such as the Housing Act 1996 by virtue of the Homelessness (Priority Need for Accommodation) Order 2002 SI No 2015.”

87. The Defendant did not dispute this authority or the approach there set out. If and insofar as a suggested blanket policy of not conducting age assessments on any adults was part of the Defendant’s decision-making (as appears to have been the case given the statement in the Decision letter that the Defendant did not perform age assessments on adults) this was a misdirection to itself and/or, being an irrational approach, was Wednesbury unreasonable. Consideration should instead have been given to the individual circumstances of the Claimant notwithstanding that she was, on her own case, aged over 18 at the relevant time.

(8) Section 31(2A)(a) Senior Courts Act 1981

88. By section 31(2A)(a) Senior Courts Act 1981, the Court must refuse to grant relief on an application for judicial review if it appears to the court that it is highly likely that the outcome for the applicant would not have been substantially different if the conduct complaint of had not occurred. There is an exception to this if the Court considers it appropriate to do so for reasons of exceptional public interest (section 31(2B)).

89. It is contended by the Defendant in its skeleton argument (but not in its Acknowledgment of Service or Detailed Grounds) that if the Court finds that the Defendant should have taken more account of the ‘new evidence’ in early 2016 but that it is highly likely that had it done so it would have been entitled to refuse to reassess, the Court must refuse relief, there being no exceptional public interest reason why it should not. It is further submitted in the Defendant’s Note dated 5 December 2016 that if the Court also finds that the Defendant should have taken into account the procedural breaches in deciding whether to reassess, it is also highly likely the outcome would have been the same. This is on the basis that the new evidence makes no material difference for the expanded reasons given in the Note to the outcome of the assessment. The Defendant emphasises that the section 31 test is significantly different to the ‘materiality’ test in that it does not require the Defendant to show that it is inevitable that the result would have been the same.

90. It is contended by the Claimant on the other hand that this was not a point raised by the Defendant in its Acknowledgment of Service or Detailed Grounds or by the Court of its own motion when considering permission. It is further contended that given the considerable volume of new evidence presented to the Defendant ranging from DNA evidence, to expert trafficking, medical and country of origin evidence that undermines the adverse credibility findings reached in its 2013 age assessment and the extent and severity of the procedural breaches brought to its attention, this is not a case in which it can be asserted that the outcome is ‘highly likely’ not to have been substantially different if either (i) the Defendant had properly applied its mind to these relevant factors as part of its decision-making process or (ii) if it had agreed to conduct a reassessment of age. It is contended that the only fair and proper manner in which the Defendant can remedy its failure to conduct a lawful assessment in 2013, and to properly engage with the new evidence presented by the Claimant, is to conduct a fresh assessment adopting an inquisitorial approach that re-visits the Claimant’s credibility and consistency of account whilst affording her the benefit of the doubt. It is submitted that the Defendant is not properly able to predict the outcome of any fresh assessment by concluding that its findings would remain unaltered as this entirely fails to acknowledge the extent to which previous adverse credibility findings held against the Claimant must now be reversed in light of new and corroborative evidence. It is further stated by the Claimant that, given that the Defendant accepted in its submissions on 15 November 2016 that credibility lies at the heart of the age assessment process; it logically follows that any changes to how the Claimant’s credibility is viewed may very well lead to a different determination or even acceptance of her age. 

91. The Claimant further relies on the findings of Blake J as regards the operation of section 31(2A) Senior Courts Act 1981 in the case of R(Logan) v London Borough of Havering [2015] EWHC 3193 at [55] as follows:

“55 In my judgment, any consideration of whether the outcome was highly likely to have been substantially the same even if due regard had been had to the PSED should normally be based on material in existence at the time of the decision and not simply post-decision speculation by an individual decision maker. Any other course runs the risk of reducing the importance of compliance with duties of procedural fairness and statutory or other requirements that certain matters be taken into account and others disregarded. Indeed, it would undermine the efficacy of judicial review as an instrument to ensure that the rule of law applies to decision making by public authorities, by deterring claimants from bringing a case or the court from granting permission by a declaration by a decision maker who has failed to obey the law to the effect that obedience would have made no difference. Whatever else Parliament may have intended to achieve by this legislation, I cannot infer that it included so draconian a modification of constitutional principles. It may well be that the new provision was only intended to apply to somewhat trivial procedural failings that could be said to be incapable of making a material difference to the decision made. If recourse can be had to the drafting history and statements of sponsoring Ministers to assess the purpose of the legislation and the mischief to be cured there may be material support for such a conclusion…”

92. For the reasons I have already given in relation to Section (6) above on materiality (which remain relevant even on the section 31 (2A) test notwithstanding that the Defendant does not have to show that it is inevitable that the result would have been the same), together with the reasons given by the Claimant above, with which I agree, this is simply not a case where the Court can conclude that the failings I have identified above would be “highly likely” to have made no significant difference to the outcome. This is quintessentially a case involving “post-decision speculation by an individual decision maker” (see paragraph 72 above) of the kind which Blake J cautioned was not a proper basis for the application of section 31(2A). Accordingly, I refuse the Defendant’s application to withhold the relief sought by the Claimant by operation of section 31(2A) Senior Courts Act 1981. The exception in section 31(2B) does not, therefore, arise.

(9) Conclusions and relief

93. Returning to the issue I identified at paragraph 12 above, for the reasons set out in detail above, I conclude that the Claimant has established that the Defendant did misdirect itself and acted Wednesbury unreasonably in declining to reassess the Claimant’s age in its Decision dated 14 January 2016. It did so by failing to consider sufficiently whether the new material, in light of the ADCS guidance, should mean that a reassessment be conducted. The Decision was principally directed towards the defence of its 2013 age assessment from criticism rather than this issue. Further, it failed to take into account relevant factors, namely the impact of the DNA testing and the other expert evidence (leaving aside Ms Pande’s report) which was relevant and material in relation to the adverse findings or concerns the Defendant had about the Claimant’s credibility at the time of conducting the 2013 age assessment and which either did or may have influenced the outcome of the age assessment. The Defendant apparently took into account an alleged but unsubstantiated policy not to conduct age assessment on all adults, even if the individual in question had legal rights which would or might be affected by a reassessment, thereby misdirecting itself and/or acting unreasonably. In relation to the two alleged procedural flaws in the 2013 age assessment (the lack of presence of an appropriate adult and the failure to give the Claimant an opportunity to comment on adverse findings), both were ultimately accepted by the Defendant but it took no account of the fact that a Merton-compliant age assessment had not been carried out in 2012/13 when deciding whether or not to re-assess the Claimant’s age. These procedural deficiencies were both relevant to that Decision and I am unable to conclude that the failure to take them into account had no material effect on the outcome of the Decision. Accordingly, I grant a declaration that the Defendant’s Decision of 14 January 2016 was unlawful and make an order quashing that decision. 

94. I was somewhat troubled by a submission on behalf of the Defendant during the hearing that if its Decision were quashed and it had to re-make it (absent any mandatory order to carry out a fresh age assessment), the Court would be entitled to conclude that it was highly likely that it would reach the same decision i.e. not to reassess age. However, it was accepted by the Defendant that if a mandatory order to carry out a fresh age assessment were made it was not possible to assert that the Defendant would reach the same decision as the 2013 age assessment. These submissions appeared to come fairly close to an assertion that the Defendant would make the same decision again if the decision were remitted to it to be re-made, whereas the Court would naturally expect a responsible local authority whose decision had been quashed as unlawful to approach the reconsideration of the issue of whether to carry out a reassessment of age and the evidence with an open mind and to take full account of the matters set out in the Court’s judgment when considering the issues before it for the second time. Nevertheless, in all the circumstances of this case, and taking into account that, although the Claimant herself accepts responsibility for some degree of unjustifiable delay in this case in relation to seeking a reassessment, there is a degree of time sensitivity for the Claimant. On her own case, she will turn 21 in just over a year from now, at which point such legal entitlement as she may have as a ‘care leaver’ depending on the outcome of a reassessment of age is likely to change. Further, any fresh age assessment could also have implications for the trafficking decision (which has been pending since 5 February 2014) and her asylum claim (which has been pending since 1 April 2014). In those circumstances, I consider that it is appropriate in this case to direct that the Defendant do conduct a fresh and Merton-compliant assessment of the Claimant’s age within a period of not later than 3 months from the date of the Court order. 

95. I am aware from the Court papers that the Claimant’s half-brother, PM, had also issued a claim for judicial review in relation to the Defendant’s refusal to carry out a reassessment of his age (under claim reference CO/4093/2016). He was not granted permission to proceed with a claim for judicial review after consideration on the papers by Ms Karen Steyn QC sitting as a Deputy High Court Judge on 5 October 2016 and he was refused permission on an oral hearing to reconsider the application for permission by Edis J on 15 November 2016. In case any concern might arise regarding the difference in treatment of these claims, I would point out that there is a very important point of distinction between them. As I understand the position, PM was assessed on 16 January 2013 to be just one year older than his asserted age and, on the relevant age assessment, remained a child and as such entitled to remain in foster care and to be provided with other relevant services by the Defendant. By contrast, the Claimant was assessed to be 5 years older than her asserted age and an adult, with the result that she was no longer entitled to the provision of accommodation and other services, save in connection with her application for asylum and her trafficking claim. In those circumstances, it is apparent that the question of whether a “significantly different conclusion” might be reached on reassessment such that “the child…may be notably…younger than initially assessed” would involve quite different considerations. As Ms Moodie submitted orally on behalf of the Claimant at the hearing on 15 November 2016, a difference of 5 years means that this “is not a borderline case”.

96. Finally, I would like to express my gratitude to both Counsel for their clear and helpful submissions and notes. The parties should seek to agree a draft order in light of this judgment and submit it for approval, failing which short written submissions in support of each party’s position should be filed and served.  


